BRIEF OF PETITIONER
ON JURISDICTION
(With Separate Appendix)

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON By GEORGE W. CHESROW Attorneys for Petitioner 900 Alfred I. duPont Building Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 379-6411

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

900 ALFRED I. BUPONT BUILDING

MIAMI, FLORIDA 33131

INTRODUCTION

This is a petition for review in an action for medical malpractice, wherein the Third District Court of Appeal adopted a conclusive irrebuttable presumption of negligence applicable to all hospitals in the State of Florida. Because of the pervasive effect the Third District's decision will have on the ability of hospitals in Florida to deliver health care to the citizens of the state, the Florida Hospital Association, which represents 220 hospitals in the State of Florida, was permitted to intervene in these proceedings following the filing of the Third District's opinion on June 5, 1984. The Third District, on August 20, 1985, modified its opinion on rehearing because, as originally written, the court erroneously placed a duty on hospitals to obtain the patient's informed consent. The court, however, declined to

recede from its adoption of a conclusive irrebuttable presumption of negligence. Because the adoption of this presumption not only collides with numerous decisions of this Court, but also adversely affects every hospital in the State of Florida, the Florida Hospital Association has joined in this brief to urge this Court to accept jurisdiction to review the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent, plaintiff below, Gregoria Valcin, asked to be sterilized after she delivered a child while a patient at Jackson 1/Memorial Hospital in Miami. (App. 1) A Pomeroy tubal ligation was performed on plaintiff six days after she gave birth. (App. 2) More than a year later plaintiff sustained a ruptured ectopic pregnancy for which she was treated by Daniel Hammond, M.D., at Cedars of Lebanon Hospital. (App. 35-36)

After plaintiff was discharged by Dr. Hammond, she brought suit against petitioner, defendant below, the Public Health Trust of Dade County, d/b/a Jackson Memorial Hospital, alleging in three counts that (1) defendant expressly warranted that the sterilization procedure "would, in fact, make her sterile," and breached the warranty (Count I); (2) "negligently failed to properly advise ... that the Plaintiff ... could become pregnant with an ectopic pregnancy ..." (Count II); and (3) that the sterilization procedure was negligently performed (Count III). (App. 19-24)

^{1/} In this brief "App" refers to Petitioner's appendix. All emphasis herein is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

Defendant answered the complaint and denied the material allegations. (App. 25-26)

Plaintiff's treating physician was deposed. Dr. Hammond, who was plaintiff's only expert witness (App. 17, 31-32), frankly stated he could not testify as an expert because he was not familiar with the standard of care:

Dr. Hammond, are you presently familiar with what the accepted standard of care is in the community for performing a tubal ligation among the physicians in this community and in asking that question, I don't mean do you have your own personal opinion as to what you think is most effective, but do you have an opinion as to what the general standard is?

- A. No, I do not.
- Q. In this community?
- A. Because I have not inquired about it, number one, and number two, since I've not been involved in obstetrical activities for ten years or so, I have not fraternized with the obstetricians in this sense.

(App. 59-60) Although Dr. Hammond was not familiar with the standard of care, he was critical of the operative note which the attending surgeon had prepared. Dr. Hammond testified there was "an operative note on the progress note" or records of the patient. (App. 94) However, he believed the operative note was not of a "legitimate variety" because there should have been a separate dictated operative note in addition to the operative note on the patient's progress records. (App. 94-95) Dr. Hammond testified that based upon the hospital records, plaintiff "had undergone a tubal ligation of a Pomeroy type, presumably, since this was the notation that was made on the progress notes" (App. 94)

Moreover, Dr. Hammond testified the patient's records did, in fact, reveal that "a bilateral tubal ligation was performed by the Pomeroy method, the operating doctor did make a brief handwritten note and there was a pathology report verifying there was a tubal ligation performed by the Pomeroy method." (App. 109) Given this information, Dr. Hammond testified that even "if the formal operative note had said a Pomeroy ligation was done, this would not really help us know why this one failed," because "Pomeroy ligations fail even when they are done in an ideal situation."

Dr. Hammond testified a Pomeroy ligation has a one-half to one percent failure rate. (App. 58) In fact, he testified:

- Q. Okay. So, what did happen is exactly the same thing that can happen when the tubal ligation is performed by the very finest surgeon and the very finest hospital and the patient has the very finest care that could be provided by anyone anywhere?
- A. That's correct

(App. 103) Moreover, from the very hospital records which Dr. Hammond was critical of, he testified that "they did what they were supposed to because there were two fragments of tubes that were identified by the pathologist. So, they obviously had taken out an intervening knuckle of tube, which is part of the Pomeroy sterilization." (App. 62) Although he admitted he was not familiar with the standard of care, Dr. Hammond was of the opinion that

^{2/} Dr. Hammond testified a Pomeroy ligation is a procedure whereby an intervening section of the tubes is surgically removed. (App. 62, 93)

petitioner was negligent in allowing the Pomeroy sterilization to be performed six days after delivery, yet he admitted that there was not any causal connection between the timing of the operation and the subsequent ectopic pregnancy. (App. 82-83, 99)

- Q. You can't make any causal connection, can you, Dr. Hammond, from having done the tubal ligation six days postpartum and then her having the ectopic pregnancy in 1980.
- A. That's correct.

(App. 99) Dr. Hammond testified that when he, as a doctor, writes medical records, they are at times "rather sketchy and sparse"

(App. 40) Although the attending surgeon at Jackson did not dictate a formal operative note, and merely wrote a brief handwritten operative note on the progress chart of the patient, Dr. Hammond testified "there is enough peripheral evidence to give us information as to what was probably done." (App. 112) The failure to have a formal operative note did not "adversely affect the patient" according to Dr. Hammond. (App. 111) Dr. Hammond testified that the lack of a formal operative note would have made no difference in his evaluation of the treatment rendered at Jackson:

- Q. If you had the operative note from Jackson Memorial Hospital, would that be of assistance to you?
- A. Probably not, because the probability was this was described or would have been described as a Pomeroy ligation, which is a gross ligature. Now, nobody really knows why some of the gross ligature procedures fail and others don't. There is no way to tell why a failure has occurred.

(App. 106)

On these facts, the Third District held that absent a

formal operative note, there is a presumption of negligence on the part of the hospital, that the burden of proving that the surgical procedure was properly performed was on the hospital, and that if a fact finder is not satisfied with the hospital's reasons as to the absence of an operative note that fulfills Dr. Hammond's criteria, a conclusive, irrebuttable presumption of negligent care and treatment arises in this case. The court also held that a jury could find that plaintiff's consent to the surgery was fraudulently obtained, although, as will be shown in the argument section, there was never any allegation in plaintiff's complaint that her consent to the procedure was procured by fraud.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The adoption of a conclusive irrebuttable presumption of negligence directly conflicts with numerous decisions of this Court holding that presumptions result in a denial of due process and are invalid unless there is a rational connection between the fact proved and the ultimate fact presumed, and there is a right to rebut in a fair manner. Straughn v. K & K Land Management, Inc., 326 So.2d 421 (Fla. 1976); Black v. State, 77 Fla. 289, 81 So. 411 (Fla. 1919); Goldstein v. Maloney, 62 Fla. 198, 57 So. 342 (Fla. 1911); Whitaker v. Morrison, 1 Fla. 25, 35 (Fla. 1846); Cunningham v. Parikh, 472 So.2d 746 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). The decision is also in conflict with the decisions of this Court adopting the evidence code. In re Florida Evidence Code, 372 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1979), 376 So.2d 1161 (Fla. 1979), 404 So.2d 743 (Fla. 1981).

The Third District also decided issues which were never

raised below, and granted relief on matters outside the pleadings and beyond the issues raised on appeal, in violation of this Court's decision in Cortina v. Cortina, 98 So.2d 334, 337 (Fla. 1957).

POINT INVOLVED

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

ARGUMENT

In <u>Whitaker v. Morrison</u>, <u>supra</u> at 35, this Court in one of its initial decisions adopted the following rule of law applicable to presumptions:

But presumptions can only stand when they are compatible with the conduct of those to whom it may be sought to apply them; and still more must give place, when in conflict with clear, distinct and convincing proof. [Citations omitted]

The Third District's adoption of a conclusive irrebuttable presumption collides with this rule of law because defendant is afforded no opportunity to rebut the presumption of negligent treatment in cases where a fact finder is not satisfied as to the reasons why an operative note was not prepared, even though, as in this case, Dr. Hammond testified that the presence of such a note would not have been determinative because Pomeroy sterilizations fail when performed under ideal conditions. (App. 96, 106) The decision is also in conflict with the decision in Straughn v. K & K Land Management, Inc., supra, which holds that a presumption denies due process unless first, there is a "rational connection between the fact proved and the ultimate fact presumed," and second, there

is "a right to rebut in a fair manner." Neither requirements are complied with here. Accord, Cunningham v. Parikh, supra. It is not rational to presume that an operation was negligently performed merely because the surgeon's notes are written into the patient's progress notes rather than being embodied in a separate, dictated and typed operative note. Indeed, Dr. Hammond testified that the failure to have such an operative note is "not negligence of a doctor that adversely affects the patient" (App. 111) Not only is a rational relationship between the established fact (lack of an operative note) and the presumed fact (negligent treatment) irrational, there is no opportunity to rebut the presumption.

The Third District's decision is in direct conflict with the decisions of this Court adopting the evidence code as rules of this Court. In re Florida Evidence Code, 372 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1979), 376 So.2d 1161 (Fla. 1979), 404 So.2d 743 (Fla. 1981). the cited decisions, this Court adopted as a court rule, Section 90.301(2), Florida Statutes, which provides that "[e]xcept for presumptions that are conclusive under the law from which they arise, a presumption is rebuttable." There is no "law" from which the presumption adopted by the Third District arises which accords a conclusive effect to the presumption. To the contrary, this Court has consistently held, contrary to the Third District's holding, that the party against whom a presumption is applied must not be deprived of the right to rebut the presumption. Goldstein v. Maloney, supra; Whitaker v. Morrison, supra. In the case at bar, if the physician failed to dictate an operative note, because he was satisfied with the notes of the procedure which he wrote in

the patient's progress chart, a conclusive irrebuttable presumption arises, with no opportunity to disprove the presumed fact. This Court, by its decisions adopting the evidence code, held in Section 90.301(3) that "nothing in this chapter shall prevent the drawing of an inference that is appropriate." However, this Court, in adopting Section 90.301(2), determined that presumptions are rebuttable, and can only be made conclusive "under the law from which they arise." The Third District's adoption of a conclusive presumption conflicts with the decisions of this Court adopting the evidence code.

Finally, the Third District held under Section II of its opinion that plaintiff alleged that the consent she signed was procured by fraud. In order to allege that a representation was fraudulent, the alleged fraud "must appear with reasonable certainty in plaintiff's complaint." American International Land Corp. v. Hanna, 323 So.2d 567, 569-570 (Fla. 1975). Even a cursory review of the complaint by the Third District would have revealed that no issue of fraud was ever pled or raised in the trial court by plaintiff. (App. 19-24) The Third District raised this issue and others which were never pled in conflict with this Court's holding in Cortina, supra, that the adjudication of an issue "entirely outside of the issues made by the pleadings cannot stand"

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully urges that there is direct conflict between the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, in the case at bar and the decisions of this Court and of other district courts of appeal in the cases cited herein. Petitioner respectfully prays this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution.