GREGORIA VALCIN and GERARD VALCIN, her husband, Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT IN OPPOSITION TO JURISDICTION

(Conflict Certiorari)

HORTON, PERSE & GINSBERG and VIRGIN & KRAY, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent 410 Concord Building 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-0427

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I.

After the birth of their fifth child, Mr. and Mrs. Valcin (plaintiffs/appellants) opted for a sterilization procedure. Dr. Shroder, a member of the defendant's staff, performed a procedure on Mrs. Valcin. Some two years later she almost died as a result of a ruptured ectopic (tubal) pregnancy. This near fatality caused her to suffer permanent physical and emotional problems. Plaintiff's law suit against the defendant <u>termin</u>-<u>ated</u> when the defendant <u>moved for, and obtained, summary final</u> judgment (A. 17).

Plaintiff has emphasized and underscored the above because the defendant's "Brief on Jurisdiction" accords to the facts of this case none of the favorable intendments of testimony, inferences or benefits normally and mandatorily attendant with appeals from "adverse summary final judgment." See: HOLL V. TALCOTT, 191 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 1966). Indeed, defendant's brief ignores the (present) posture of the case (now as well as) at the time of the filing of the notice of appeal. Suffice it to say that a proper view of the facts does not include defendant's analysis and interpretation of what Dr. Hammond meant (or intended) when he stated. . . (those statements interspersed throughout pages 3, 4, 5 and 6 of the defendant's brief). Such analysis and credibility concerns are jury matters, not "conflict elements." A proper view of the facts, intendments of testimony and inferences has a direct bearing on both the correctness and accuracy of what the defendant believes consti-

- 1 -

tutes the "jurisdictional conflict" in this case. Such (proper) view soundly establishes the lack of merit to both the defendant's substantive and "conflict jurisdiction" concerns.

At page 1 of its brief the defendant states:

"This is a petition for review in an action for medical malpractice, wherein the Third District Court of Appeal adopted a conclusive irrebuttable presumption of negligence applicable to all hospitals in the State of Florida. ..."

What the District Court "adopted"--viewed solely in the context of the facts of this case, on appeal from a summary final judgment--was to recognize (that):

* * *

"There is little question that Valcin's ability to prove her negligence claim against the hospital has been substantially prejudiced by the absence of critical hospital records. Whether the ultimate sanction of entering a judgment as to liability against the hospital should be imposed depends, in our view, on what the proof ultimately shows as to the reason the records cannot be produced. Since the evidence concerning the reason the records cannot be produced is peculiarly within the knowledge of the hospital, we deem it fair to preliminarily impose upon the hospital the burden of proving, by the greater weight of the evidence, that the records are not missing due to an intentional or deliberate act or omission on the part of the hospital or its employees. If the fact-finder, under appropriate instructions, determines that the hospital has sustained its burden of showing that Dr. Shroder did not deliberately omit making an operative report or, if one was made, that the hospital did not deliberately remove or destroy the report, then the fact that the record is missing will merely raise a presumption that the surgical procedue was negligently performed, which presumption may be rebutted by the hospital by the greater weight of the evidence. However, if the fact-finder is not satisfied that the records are missing due to inadvertence or negligence, then a conclusive, irrebuttable presumption that the surgical procedure was negligently performed will arise, and judgment as to liability shall be entered in favor of Valcin."

* * *

Hence, it may be seen that the District Court's opinion <u>has not</u> "saddled" the defendant with any "factual finding" nor has the Court "held" that the defendant should not be allowed (A) to present evidence; (B) to address the pertinent issues; or (C) to try before a jury each and every issue of fact bearing on the matters raised by the pleadings. To the contrary:

* *

"...where a health care provider, statutorily and morally charged with the responsibility of making and maintaining records as a part of its obligation to promote the safe and adequate treatment of patients, negligently fails to do so, <u>such health</u> care provider shall have the burden of proving that the treatment which such missing records would reflect was performed non-negligently; and that where such health care provider <u>intentionally fails</u> to make or maintain such records, the treatment which such missing records would reflect shall be deemed negligent and the provider adjudged liable."

* * *

Application of those legal principles to the record before the District Court demonstrated to that Court:

A. Trial court <u>granting</u> of summary final judgment as to the plaintiff's <u>warranty claim</u> <u>was justified</u> as the claim was barred pursuant to § 725.01, Florida Statutes (1981) and as to that count, affirmance followed;

B. Trial court granting of summary final judgment as to plaintiff's cause of action for the defendant's failure to obtain informed consent was error:

> "Whether the indisputably false representations alleged to have been made to Mrs. Valcin by representatives of Jackson were in fact made and induced her to give her consent are quite clearly issues of fact which cannot be determined in a summary judgment hearing;

> > - 3 -

C. Trial court granting of summary final judgment as to plaintiff's claim of "negligent sterilization" was also error:

> ". . Where evidence peculiarly within the knowledge of the adversary is, as here, not made available to the party which has the burden of proof, other rules must be fashioned. . In Florida, where vital discovery has been lost after litigation has commenced, or has not been turned over upon request, a judgment on liability against the offending party has been held to be an <u>appropriate remedy</u>." MERCER v. RAINE, 443 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 1983). . ."

Each and every facet of the District Court opinion is in conformity with prior Florida law on the subject and this becomes crystal clear <u>if one fairly treats the subject record</u> with the deference required, with all intendments of testimony resolved in plaintiff's favor, and with due regard for the facts and circumstances of this particular case. See: HOLL v. TALCOTT, supra. Viewed in this light and for the reasons to be discussed, infra, it will be demonstrated there exists no conflict --direct, indirect, express or implied.

II.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE DECISION SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS RELIED UPON.

and

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court found that the defendant's violation of a legislatively imposed obligation was actionable and, because it was, it reversed a summary final judgment entered in the defendant's favor. Because the District Court opinion recognized the need for, and specifically provided for, a "rational connection between the facts proved and the ultimate facts presumed", and because the District Court <u>specifically reserved</u> to the defendant the "right to rebut in a <u>fair manner</u>" (in any reasonable way the defendant sought to proceed), it cannot be said there exists "conflict" in the constitutional sense. Since none of the cases cited by the defendant are <u>factually</u> similar to the instant cause, it may be correctly concluded: No conflict exists!

IV.

ARGUMENT

Α.

PROCEDURAL GUIDELINES

The plaintiff suggests to this Court no conflict exists. The plaintiff reaches this conclusion because conflict jurisdiction (as relevant herein) can exist only where the District Court applies a recognized rule of law to reach a conflicting conclusion <u>in a case involving substantially the same controlling facts</u> as were involved in prior decisions allegedly in conflict <u>or</u> where the Court announces a <u>rule of law</u> not in harmony with prior announcements. KYLE v. KYLE, 139 So. 2d 85

- 5 -

III.

(Fla. 1962) and NIELSON v. CITY OF SARASOTA, 117 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1960). These principles have not changed, even under recent constitutional amendments and, if any change has occurred, the principles have been more strictly adhered to.

In the decision sought to be reviewed, the District Court <u>did not</u> "in an express manner" "give expression to" or "represent in words" any thought that its holding was in direct conflict with any other Florida decision. Under present practice, unless the District Court does recognize the existence of direct conflict and "gives expression to" that recognition, this Court has no jurisdiction to resolve any asserted or supposed conflict. JENKINS v. STATE, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980).

Β.

THE DECISION SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED IS NOT IN CONFLICT, DIRECT, INDIRECT, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH THE DECISIONS RELIED UPON.

This case involves a plaintiff's right (indeed, <u>any liti-gant's right</u>) to <u>not suffer</u> a fatal consequence where a party opponent negligently or intentionally does not produce "mater-ials" (evidence of any pertinent type) which are/were exclus-ively within its possession, especially where same is <u>either</u> judicially or legislatively required to be <u>both</u> kept and, <u>upon</u> demand, produced!

After sorting through the established law, the District Court determined summary final judgment was improper--as a matter of fact--and remanded for <u>jury evaluation</u> of all matters. The subject cause, while both (that) simple and (that) complex, is just not in conflict with any of the authorities cited by

- 6 -

the defendant.

The thrust of the defendant's urgings is contained within a line of cases which recognize generally:

"It is competent for the Legislature to create by law prima facie presumptions of evidence without denying the process of law, where such presumptions may be a natural or reasonable inference from the facts or circumstances from which the presumptions are raised by the statute, and the opposite party is not deprived of the right to rebut the presumptions in some <u>fair manner</u> duly provided or accorded by the rules of law or procedure." GOLDSTEIN v. MALONEY, 57 So. 342 (Fla. 1911).

In accord: BLACK v. STATE, 81 So. 411 (Fla. 1919); and, STRAUGHN v. K & K LAND MANAGEMENT, INC., 326 So. 2d 421 (Fla. 1976), wherein it was stated:

"The test of the constitutionality of statutory presumptions is twofold. First, there must be a rational connection between the facts proved and the ultimate facts presumed (Citations omitted). Second, there must be a right to rebut in a fair manner (Citations omitted)." 326 So. 2d at p. 424.

In the instant cause the District Court <u>did follow</u> lawful guidelines in its determination that the summary final judgment was erroneous. Indeed, review of the subject opinion reflects that the evidence <u>not produced</u> (which evidence defendant was legislatively required to obtain, keep and produce--to the plaintiff) <u>obviously</u> provided the requisite "rational connection" between the fact proved--"medical negligence" and the ultimate fact <u>presumed</u>--"medical negligence." That there <u>was</u> <u>provided</u> by the District Court provision for the defendant to produce whatever evidence it desired on the issue of loss, failure to produce, medical negligence, etc., is patent from the face of the opinion. No conflict therefore exists as the

- 7 -

Court did not announce a <u>rule of law</u> not in harmony with prior announcements.

Factually, the District Court did not apply a recognized rule of law to reach a conflicting conclusion in a case involving substantially the same controlling facts as were involved in the decisions allegedly in conflict. Aside from the obvious fact that the cases cited by the defendant deal with legislatively created presumptions and inferences (the subject cause does not):

 GOLDSTEIN v. MALONEY, supra, involved a retail dealer in dry goods being indebted in excess of her assets. The case involved goods, wares and merchandise in bulk and simply has no factual relevancy to the instant cause;

BLACK v. STATE, supra, was a criminal case <u>tried</u>
<u>on the merits</u> and is simply neither pertinent nor relevant
herein;

3. STRAUGHN v. K & K LAND MANAGEMENT, INC., supra, arrived before this Court on appeal from a final judgment which declared a particular Florida Statute unconstitutional. This Court discussed the statute as it pertained to the facts of the case. The subject cause is in no wise analagous and CUNNINGHAM v. PARIKH, 472 So. 2d 746 (Fla.App.5th 1985) involved District Court ruling concerning the constitutionality of the medical consent law. In this case the District Court neither passed upon the constitutionality of that Act nor concerned itself with the burden of proof thereunder. In any event CUNNINGHAM, supra, held unconstitutional the statute's "conclusive pre-

- 8 -

sumption" and did so <u>in favor of</u> the plaintiffs. The constitutionality of that statute is neither pertinent nor relevant herein.

Lastly, mention can be made of defendant's reliance upon CORTINA v. CORTINA, 98 So. 2d 334 (Fla. 1957) on appeal from a proceeding brought by a husband against his wife for contempt of child visitation provisions of a divorce decree. Defendant cites that case for the proposition:

"The Third District also decided issues which were never raised below, and granted relief on matters outside the pleadings and beyond the issues raised on appeal, in violation of this Court's decision in CORTINA v. CORTINA. . ."

In the instant cause plaintiff stated a cause of action for damages sustained as a result of defendant's failure to obtain informed consent. As a <u>matter of law</u>--not as a matter of fact or pleading--\$ 768.46(4)(a) came into play. That statute allows an aggrieved plaintiff to rebut an apparently validly obtained consent:

"if there was a fraudulent misrepresentation of a material fact in obtaining the signature."

Hence, District Court discussion of "fraud" was/is appropriate because without it <u>the defendant</u> would have no defense. As a matter of common sense, it should be further noted that the defendant did not produce for this Court the arguments raised in its "Appellee's Brief."

Since the remedy of imposing sanctions (i.e., liability, causation, removal of an issue from jury consideration) for a party litigant's wrongful interference with an opposing party's

- 9 -

right to seek redress in the courts is well precedented, plaintiff believes there exists no justification for this Court to exercise its jurisdiction. Defendant's reliance upon the Florida Evidence Code for "conflict" is inappropriate, See: KYLE v. KYLE, supra. Hence, where a District Court's opinion is not in conflict, direct, indirect, express or implied, with any Florida authority (much less the ones relied upon by the subject defendant), it is appropriate for this Court to decline to exercise its jurisdiction.

The plaintiff suggests to this Court no conflict exists and the petition for certiorari should be denied.

V.